
 

 
Published and despatched by democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk on Monday, 23 May 2022.  

 01476 406080 
Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 

www.southkesteven.gov.uk  
 

 

     

 

 

Tuesday, 31 May 2022 at 10.00 am  
Council Chamber - South Kesteven House, St. Peter's 

Hill, Grantham. NG31 6PZ 
 

 
Cabinet 
Members: 

 
Councillor Kelham Cooke, The Leader of the Council (Chairman) 
Councillor Adam Stokes, The Deputy Leader of the Council (Vice-Chairman) 
 
Councillor Barry Dobson, Cabinet Member for Leisure 
Councillor Annie Mason, Cabinet Member for People and Safer Communities 
Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for Housing and Property 
Councillor Nick Robins, Cabinet Member for Planning and Planning Policy 
Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew, Cabinet Member for Culture and Visitor Economy 
Councillor Mark Whittington, Cabinet Member for Waste Services and Climate Change 
Councillor Linda Wootten, Cabinet Member for Corporate Governance and Licensing 
 

Agenda 

 This meeting can be watched as a live stream, or at a later date, via the  

SKDC YouTube Channel 

 
1.   Register of attendance and apologies for absence  

  
 

 

2.   Minutes of the previous meeting 
Minutes of the meeting held on 19 April 2022. 

(Pages 3 - 6) 

   
3.   Disclosure of Interests  

  
 
 
 
 

 

Cabinet 

mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
https://www.youtube.com/user/SouthKestevenDC


 

 

 Items for Cabinet Decision: Key 
 
 

4.   Contract award for building materials supply 
Under Section 100(a)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press and 

public may be excluded from the meeting during this item on the grounds that  

if they were to be present, exempt information could be disclosed to them as 

defined in paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the Act in respect of Appendix One. 

(Pages 7 - 27) 

  
 

 

 Items for Cabinet Decision: Non-Key 
 
 

5.   SK Community Fund: Small Grants Scheme (Pages 29 - 36) 
  

 
 

6.   Award of Contract - The Earlesfield Project 
Under Section 100(a)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press and 

public may be excluded from the meeting during this item on the grounds that  

if they were to be present, exempt information could be disclosed to them as 

defined in paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the Act in respect of Appendices 

One and Two. 

(Pages 37 - 47) 

   
 Matters Referred to Cabinet by the Council or Overview and Scrutiny Committees 

 
 

 Items for information 
 
 

7.   Key and Non-Key Decisions taken under Delegated Powers (Pages 49 - 90) 
  

 
 

8.   Cabinet's Forward Plan (Pages 91 - 96) 
   



 

 

Minutes 
Cabinet 
Tuesday, 19 April 2022 

 
 

 
 

 
The Leader: Councillor Kelham Cooke, The Leader of the Council (Chairman) 
The Deputy Leader: Councillor Adam Stokes, The Deputy Leader of the Council 
(Vice-Chairman) 
  
Cabinet Members present  
  
Councillor Annie Mason, Cabinet Member for People and Safer Communities 
Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for Housing and Property 
Councillor Nick Robins, Cabinet Member for Planning and Planning Policy 
Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew, Cabinet Member for Culture and Visitor 
Economy 
Councillor Mark Whittington, Cabinet Member for Waste Services  
Councillor Linda Wootten, Cabinet Member for Corporate Governance and Licensing  
 
Non-Cabinet Members present 
 
Councillor Ashley Baxter 
Councillor Phil Dilks 
Councillor Virginia Moran 
 
Officers  

 

Karen Bradford (Chief Executive) 
Alan Robinson (Deputy Chief Executive and Monitoring Officer) 
Richard Wyles (Chief Finance Officer) 
Andrew Cotton (Director of Housing and Property) 
Nicola McCoy-Brown (Director of Growth and Culture) 
Graham Watts (Assistant Director of Governance and Deputy Monitoring Officer) 
Karen Whitfield (Assistant Director of Culture and Leisure) 
Chris Prime (Interim Communications Manager) 
 
103. Register of attendance and apologies for absence 
 
An apology for absence was received from Councillor Barry Dobson. 
 
104. Minutes of the previous meeting 
 
The minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 29 March 2022 were confirmed as a 
correct record. 
 

3

Agenda Item 2



 

 

105. Disclosure of Interests 
 
No disclosures of interest were declared. 
 
106. Final Scope for the Refurbishment of Deepings Leisure Centre 
 
Purpose of report 
 
To consider a recommendation from the meeting of the Culture and Visitor Economy 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee held on 5 April 2022, following a community 
consultation, on the final scope of refurbishment for the Deepings Leisure Centre. 
 
Decision 
 
That Cabinet: 
 

1.  Approves Option D as the final scheme of refurbishment with the proviso 
that the refurbishment works will only commence upon finalisation of the 
Service Level Agreement between South Kesteven District Council and the 
Anthem Trust. 
 

2.  Provides delegated authority to the Chief Executive, in consultation with 
the Section 151 Officer and Cabinet Member for Leisure, to enter a 
contractual relationship with the preferred design team following a 
compliant procurement process. 

 
3.  Agrees to receive a further report, within six months, once the procurement 

process has been completed in order to award the refurbishment works to 
the preferred construction contractor. 

 
Alternative options considered and rejected  
 
Alternative options considered and rejected were set out in the body of the report. 
 
Reasons for decision  
 
At an extraordinary meeting of Full Council on 14 December 2021 it was agreed that 
the Council should proceed, subject to meaningful community consultation, to 
undertake a full refurbishment and remodelling of the Deepings Leisure Centre. A 
budget allocation of £10.663m from 2022/23 was approved. 
 
In January 2022, Athene Communications were commissioned to manage an 
independent community engagement consultation on the refurbishment proposals. 
The purpose of the consultation was to share information on the refurbishment 
proposals with residents, organisations and stakeholders within a 20-minute drive 
time of the facility and to provide a platform for feedback to be received during the 
consultation process. The consultation was launched on 31 January 2022 and ran for 
four weeks, concluding on 28 February 2022. A copy of the community engagement 
report produced by Athene Communications and a suite of appendices were 
appended to the report. 

4



 

 

A total of 737 responses to the survey were received. The response rate had been 
analysed by the Council’s Consultation Officer using software which demonstrated a 
confidence rating of 95% in the survey results and a margin of error being 3.61%. 
This meant that the Council could be confident that 95 out of 100 individuals would 
answer the same way, plus or minus 3.61%. 
 
An overview of each question and the answers provided were set out in the body of 
the report. 
 
The Leader of the Council, in presenting the report, took the opportunity to thank the 
Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committee for its scrutiny of the 
options available and its recommendation to Cabinet. He also paid tribute to the 
tremendous amount of work undertaken by the Council’s Assistant Director of Culture 
and Leisure and her team. The Leader stated that the recommendation to Cabinet 
demonstrated that the Council had listened, particularly in respect of retaining the 
learner pool. 
 
The following points were noted during discussion by Cabinet Members: 
 

• This had not been an easy task and there would be a significant amount of 
further work required to be undertaken to enable the Council to open the 
facility 

• The proposals had been well discussed at the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 

• The vote of thanks to the Assistant Director by the Leader were echoed 

• The independent consultants, Athene Communications, were thanked for 
undertaking the consultation on behalf of the Council, the results of which had 
been listened to as part of developing and considering the options available 

• Until the lease had been finalised and signed between all interested parties, 
there was nothing further that could be done 

• The recommendation in the report referred to procurement having been 
completed within six months in order to award the refurbishment works to the 
preferred construction contractor. This should be completed as soon as 
possible. It was acknowledged that there was a procurement process to go 
through but that the Council would work as fast as it could 

• The procurement process would enable the Council to consider definitive 
costs associated with the scheme, with inflated construction costs in particular 
being of some concern  

• Negotiations in respect of the lease arrangements between all interested 
parties was being carefully expedited in liaison with the Department for 
Education 

 
Following a number of questions from Members in attendance who were not 
Members of Cabinet, the following points were noted: 
 

• As many steps needed to be taken as possible as part of the procurement 
process to ensure that the refurbished Leisure Centre was as less carbon 
intensive as possible 

5



 

 

• Regarding the lease, Heads of Terms between the Anthem Trust and the 
Council had been agreed. Negotiations on the details of the Service Level 
Agreement with the school, which detailed the hours of use and the specific 
areas of the premises that the school would be entitled to use were ongoing 
and it was anticipated that an update would be available within a couple of 
weeks on this particular matter 

• It was hoped that a phased approach to works could be investigated as part of 
the procurement process to ensure that part of the facility, such as the 
swimming pool, could be opened up sooner. This may impact the overall cost 
of the scheme but was something that would be considered as part of the 
procurement process  

 
107. Key and Non-Key Decisions taken under Delegated Powers 
 
No Key or Non-Key Decisions taken under delegated powers had been taken since 
the previous meeting. 
 
108. Cabinet's Forward Plan 
 
It was reported that the meeting of Cabinet originally scheduled to be held on 24 May 
2022 had been rescheduled to be held on 31 May 2022. 
 
Cabinet noted its Forward Plan. 
 
The meeting closed at 14:30. 
 
 

6



 

 

 

Cabinet 
31 May 2022  

Report of: Councillor Robert Reid 

  Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Property 

           

 

Contract award for building materials supply 

Following a fully compliant procurement process, the Council is now in a position to award a 
contract for ‘Building Materials Supply’ in relation to its responsibilities to repair and maintain its 
social housing stock. This report seeks Cabinet approval to award this contract to the successful 
contractor. 

 

 

Report Author 

Craig Spence, Assistant Director of Housing 

 
 01476 406080 

  Craig.spence@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Housing that meets the 
needs of all residents  

Key All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Andrew Cotton (Director of Housing & Property) 12 May 2022 

Approved by: Alan Robinson (Deputy Chief Executive)  19 May 2022 

Signed off by: Councillor Robert Reid (Cabinet Member for Housing 
and Property) 

23 May 2022 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. Approves the contract award for the Building Materials Supply contract to Grafton 
Merchanting GB Ltd for a period of up to five years. 

7

Agenda Item 4

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 The Council has a clear commitment in its Corporate Plan 2020-2023 to provide “Housing 

that meets the needs of all residents”.  As a stock-retained local authority, the Council has 

statutory and regulatory obligations to maintain and repair circa 5,900 properties.  

Naturally, there is a need to source materials to undertake the day-to-day repairs that are 

required, as well as to undertake repairs to properties when they become void, in a timely 

and cost-effective manner. 

1.2 The procurement process was initiated during 2021, Welland Procurement were engaged 

in the process from the beginning. There are three builders’ merchants within the locality 

of the Housing Repairs team depot, all national suppliers and all appear on the YPO 

Building Materials framework.   Accordingly, to procure via this route ensured suppliers 

with a local base were included in the competition, including the incumbent. 

1.3 The procurement was conducted mindful of the combined impacts of Brexit and Covid on 

supply chains and day to day business activity. A close eye was kept on the state of this 

market e.g. in June 2021 one of the potential suppliers, announced significant job cuts and 

store closures in light of falling sales volumes. Subsequently, that supplier did not submit a 

bid. 

1.4 All three suppliers were invited to bid but there was only one tender submission, which 

was from our incumbent supplier. The other two framework suppliers gave their grounds 

for not submitting a tender as: 

i) ‘Insufficient resource at this time’ 

ii) ‘low value contract with high commitments required to score well on SV [Social 

value], combined with Framework fee will be difficult to deliver’ 

1.5 The procurement summary is attached as Appendix 1 – Exempt – Building Materials 

Summary Report. This document provides more detail to the procurement process 

undertaken and recommends the award of the contract to Grafton Merchanting GB Ltd. 

1.6 The proposed contract length would be an initial two years followed by three one-year 

extensions making a total of five years. 

1.7 The Council did not specify a cap on the tendered price, bidders were required to price a 

representative bill of quantities of materials by type and quantity commonly required by the 

Council based on materials purchased in 2019/20. 

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

2.1 The Head of Technical Services, Interim Repairs and Voids Manager and Welland 

Procurement were engaged throughout the procurement process. 

3 Available Options Considered 

3.1 Do nothing and continue with incumbent supplier without a binding contract.  

3.2 Run another tender process to see if other suppliers submit tenders. 

3.3 Cabinet approves the contract award. 

4 Preferred Option 

4.1 It is in the Council’s interests to have a contract in place to give certainty in the supply of 

building materials, not least due to the Council’s statutory responsibilities as a landlord.  

8



 

 
 

The Council has followed a compliant procurement process that has resulted in one tender 

submission and there is no certainty that running the process again would achieve a 

different outcome. Therefore, the preferred option is that Cabinet approves the contract 

award 

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s) 

5.1 A fully compliant procurement process has resulted in the identification of a supplier that 

meets the Council’s requirements. 

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

6.1 The Council will award the contract and arrange appropriate contract review meetings. 

7 Financial Implications  

7.1 The annual spend for building materials for the Council’s housing stock is approximately 

£500k per annum.  The proposed contract will ensure the Council is procuring materials 

on a materials price schedule.  

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Chief Finance Officer  

8 Legal and Governance Implications  

8.1 The recommended action represents a compliant route to market for these goods and is in 

line contract procedural rules. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Alan Robinson, Monitoring Officer 

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

9.1 No direct issues; the contract shall supply materials for all properties. 

10 Risk and Mitigation 

10.1 Risks arising from Brexit and Supply Chain were covered during the procurement process 

with any future risks to be identified and mitigated at the regular contract meetings.  Risk 

in relation to the ongoing supply of materials is mitigated by having a contract in place that 

can be effectively managed.   

11 Community Safety Implications  

11.1 No direct issues. 

12 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

12.1 The procurement process was aimed at the local suppliers to reduce the carbon impact of 

the contract by reducing travel to collect materials. 

13 Other Implications (where significant)  

13.1 None. 

14 Background Papers 

14.1 None. 

15 Appendices 

15.1 Appendix One – Exempt – Building Materials Summary Report. 

9



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

11

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Cabinet 
31 May 2022 

Report of: Councillor Annie Mason 

  Cabinet Member for People and 
Safer Communities 

           

 

SK Community Fund 

This report seeks approval from Cabinet of the proposed revisions to the eligibility criteria of the SK 
Community Fund: Small Grants Scheme.  

 

 

Report Author 

Carol Drury, Community Engagement Manager 

 
 01476 406 161 

  c.drury@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Administrative Non-Key All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Debbie Nicholls, Communications and Armed Forces 
Officer 

10 May 2022 

Approved by: Nicola McCoy-Brown, Director of Growth and Culture 10 May 2022 

Signed off by: Councillor Annie Mason, Cabinet Member for People 
and Safer Communities 

11 April 2022 

 

Recommendation to the decision maker 

1. Approves the changes to the eligibility criteria for the Small Grants Scheme of the 
SK Community Fund.  Changes to become effective within the current funding 
round (Round 26) which closed on 20 July 2022. 

 

29

Agenda Item 5

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 South Kesteven District Council recognises the huge contribution that the Voluntary and 

Community Sector (VCS) has made to lives of residents over many years which has been 

brought into sharp focus during the COVID-19 pandemic. The Corporate Plan (2020-2023) 

has a vision for South Kesteven for the Council to develop the immense goodwill and 

community spirit that already exists so that communities thrive.  

1.2 The Council has a strong record in supporting the VCS by helping to enable communities 

to be more self-sufficient.   This continues to be a key priority for the Council and helping 

the VCS to grow and thrive is central to achieving this.  The Small Grant Scheme was 

launched in 2017, two years after the development of the SK Community Fund. 

1.3 The Small Grant Scheme was created following feedback from small and newly-formed 

voluntary and community groups who required small yet, to them, significant amounts of 

funding to carry out projects or help with the set up costs of their group.  

1.4 The SK Community Projects and Events Fund was considered too onerous and much of the 

documentation required to apply for larger amounts was not in place or required by small 

groups. 

1.5 Unlike the Community Projects or Community Events grants, through which groups can 

apply for up to 80% of their project costs to a maximum of £5,000, the Small Grants Scheme 

offers up to 100% of project costs to a maximum of £2,000. 

1.6 When this Scheme was developed, nothing was written into the criteria to restrict who could 

apply for funding (beyond the agreed restriction that applications must be from constituted 

groups with a dedicated bank account). This approach enabled groups and organisations 

of all sizes and means, to apply to the Scheme when the intended purpose was to support 

only small and newly-formed groups. 

1.7 In recent rounds of funding there has been an increasing number of applications to the Small 

Grants Scheme from groups and organisations that have substantial amounts of existing 

resources (as evidenced through the requirement to provide a current bank statement when 

making and application) at their disposal.  

1.8 Whilst accepting that some of the existing resources held by groups will be restricted, based 

on the terms under which grant funding from other sources was received, it would be within 

their means to contribute the required 20% supporting funding (10% of this contribution can 

be in-kind).  

1.9 Following a unanimous recommendation made by Rural and Communities Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee at its meeting of 28 April, this report seeks approval from Cabinet to an 

amendment to the criteria to make groups that hold financial resources of £10,000 and 

above ineligible to apply to the Small Grants Scheme.  These groups remain eligible to apply 

for project or event funding to the SK Community Fund. 

1.10 In response to the withdrawal of the Ward Member Grant Scheme for 2022/23, approval is 

also requested to lower the minimum grant allowed within the Small Grants Scheme from 

£500 to £200. It is hoped that this approach will encourage applications from those who 

would previously have sought funding through their Ward Councillor. 

1.11 A draft of the proposed changes to the criteria for the Small Grants Scheme can be found 

in Appendix A. 

30



 

 
 

 

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

2.1 Officers consulted with the Panel of elected Members which meets to determine awards 

given by the Council through the SK Community Fund.  A report was presented to Rural 

and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee for its Members to comment and make 

recommendations. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the Awarding Panel were 

unanimous in their support for the proposed changes outlined in the preceding paragraphs. 

3 Available Options Considered 

3.1 The existing criteria could remain. However, this option was discounted as this 

disadvantages small and newly-formed groups. 

4 Preferred Option 

4.1 As detailed under section one of this report, the preferred option is to both amend the 

eligibility criteria and to lower the minimum grant permitted of the Small Grants Scheme.   

5 Reasons for the Recommendation  

5.1 To improve the criteria of the Small Grants Scheme by preventing groups who have means 

to contribute to the cost of their project.  Instead opening opportunities for those who require 

small amounts of funding to realise their community project or activity, for whom the grant 

award is the difference between proceeding or not. 

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

6.1 If Cabinet approves the suggested changes to the criteria of the Small Grants Scheme, the 

changes to the SK Community Fund will be implemented in Round 26.  

7 Financial Implications  

7.1 The proposed changes do not have any specific financial implication but can ensure the 

finite budget is targeted at those applications that demonstrate limited ability to access 

funding through other means.  The allocation for the Community Fund for  2022/23 is £89k.  

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Chief Finance Officer  

8 Legal and Governance Implications  

8.1 There are no specific legal or governance implications arising from this report. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Graham Watts, Assistant Director of Governance 

and Deputy Monitoring Officer 

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

9.1 The SK Community Fund remains open to applications from constituted voluntary and 

community groups.  The process is equitable and awards from the Fund are determined on 

set criteria that are applied by an awarding panel of Elected Members. 

10 Risk and Mitigation 

10.1 The risk is the impact of the SK Community Fund diminishing.  Amending the eligibility 

criteria, mitigates against this occurring. 

  

31



 

 
 

11 Community Safety Implications  

11.1 None 

12 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

12.1 Not applicable to this report 

13 Other Implications (where significant)  

13.1 None 

14 Background Papers 

14.1 Report to Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee – 28.4.2022 

15 Appendices 

15.1 Appendix A – Draft Criteria for SK Community Fund Small Grants Scheme 2022. 

 

 

 

32

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=665&MId=4165&Ver=4


 

 

               
 
 

SK COMMUNITY FUND  - SMALL GRANTS SCHEME 
 

CRITERIA – GRANTS UP TO £2,000 FOR PROJECTS/EVENTS 
 

1.  Introduction 

1.1    The Community Fund has been established to support and develop community initiatives within South 
Kesteven District. 

1.2     Grants are available for groups and organisations who are involved in community projects and events 
that benefit the residents of communities in the district.  Groups and organisations must demonstrate 
how their project or event will deliver wide benefit, contributing to the sustainability, vitality and well-
being of the communities of South Kesteven and the Council’s priorities. 

 
1.3     Applications for grants up to £2,000 will be assessed at regular intervals.  Please refer to South 

Kesteven District Council’s website for current timelines. http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk.   The 
minimum grant is £200. 

 

2.  What can be funded? 

2.1   Up to 100% of total costs can be applied for although the Council expects organisations to make a 
contribution from donations, grants, sponsorship or cash. 

2.2   The kinds of projects and events that can be supported by the Community Fund are shown below: 

 

Project Category Types of Projects Supported 

Supporting Communities  

 

 

 

Supporting the work of organisations that support communities.  
Project that support communities to tackle issues of loneliness, social 
or rural isolation, mental health and wellbeing.  

Community Amenities Outdoor facilities such as ’Multi-Use Games Areas’, community shelters, 
recreation areas, community orchards etc. 

Community Buildings Repairs, maintenance and alterations to village halls and other public 
buildings, contributions to new build community buildings and the 
purchase of equipment to be used in community buildings 

Community Enterprise Projects which generate an ongoing revenue stream for a 
community such as community owned pubs, shops, cafes, and 
community tourism initiatives 

Community Events  One-off community celebrations, sports events, street festivals, 
arts and cultural events.  

 
 

33

Appendix A

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/


 

 

3. What will not be funded? 

 

3.1 The SK Community Fund Small Grants Scheme is not open to applications from groups or 
organisations that hold financial resources of £10,000 and above; clubs or groups that require people 
to pay a membership fee in order to participate and closed groups e.g. resident’s associations (set up 
costs for new groups and free, open-access events may be eligible). Other events/projects that will not 
be supported include: 

• Projects or events that are for private gain. 

• Events primarily intended to pass on surplus income to other organisations, e.g. charity 
concerts. 

• Revenue costs - salaries, project officer or other employee costs, rents, statutory training 
etc. (Sessional worker fees requested as part of an Events application may be considered). 

• Car Parks, footpaths and roadways 
• Projects or events that already receive SKDC District Council funding (e.g. SKDC Ward Member 

Grant Scheme etc). 
• Regular events (unless they have a significantly new and different aspect). 
• General appeals or sponsorship. 
• Event costs incurred for catering/refreshments 

• Activities of a mainly political or religious nature, improvements to the fabric of church 
buildings, and its fixtures and fittings (non-religious community activities only, held within 
a place of worship, may be eligible). 

• Piece-meal adaptations/refurbishments to community facilities. 

• Contingency funds, income deficits, bridging loans or security against a loan. 

 

4.  Criteria for funding 

4.1  We welcome applications from community and voluntary groups, charities and social enterprises to 
deliver projects that benefit communities in the South Kesteven District. We do not accept 
applications from individuals. 

 
4.2 Applications will be assessed on their ability to: 

• Deliver community benefit, contributing to the sustainability, vitality and well-being of 
communities, such as encouraging volunteering and participation 

• Contribute to locally identified community needs and priorities 

• Measure the success of a project or event 

• Demonstrate equality of opportunity and the elimination of discrimination 
 

4.3  Projects and events must contribute to at least one of South Kesteven District Council’s priorities: 

• Communities – local people working together to develop and deliver projects and events that make 
a real difference to where we live, encouraging safe and cohesive communities and bringing people 
of all backgrounds together to celebrate similarities and differences  

• Social/Rural Isolation – projects and events that promote social interaction and contact with local 
and broader communities enhancing the sustainability of local areas – encouraging the use of parks, 
woodlands, recreation grounds, community orchards etc  

• Loneliness – creating and sustaining projects and events that bring people together to participate 
in activities that regularly connect individuals through shared interests and pursuits  

• Mental Health and Wellbeing – projects and events that encourage healthy lifestyles, promote good 
mental wellbeing and help people to live independent lives  

4.4      To apply to the Community Fund your group or organisation must have (and supply proof with your 
application): 
• A bank or building society account in the name of your group or organisation 

• A written governing document or constitution 

34



 

 

4.5      You will be required to provide documentation to support your application, including 
copies of two written quotes for items of expenditure over £50. Your chosen quotation should be 

highlighted and should exactly match the amount on your application form.  

4.6  Grants will not be awarded retrospectively (i.e. for work or equipment already purchased or events 

which have already taken place). 
 

4.7  We will not make more than one award in a financial year to the same organisation or group. Groups 
can apply up to a maximum of 3 times.  All applications must be for clearly identifiable different projects 
or events and previously funded projects must have been completed and a Completion Form and 
required documentation has been received by SKDC prior to the submission of any subsequent 
application. 

5.  How your application is dealt with  

5.1     On receipt of your application we will make an initial assessment to check that your group or 
organisation and project or event is eligible and all the requisite information has been provided.  

5.2 We will aim to acknowledge receipt of your application within five working days of receiving it. This will 

be by email where you have provided an email address but otherwise will be by letter. 

5.3 Eligible applications will be forwarded to the Awarding Panel for consideration. The Panel is a forum 

capable of decision-making for community bids that will influence the delivery of community-based 

projects and initiatives that contribute to the sustainability, vitality and well-being of communities in the 
South Kesteven district. 

5.4   Applicants will be informed (usually by email) whether the Awarding Panel has recommended their 
project or event to receive a grant, within five working days of the meeting taking place. 

5.5 South Kesteven District Council’s Awarding Panel’s decision is final and cannot be changed (no 

appeals or discussions will be entered into). 

5.6  Payment will be made in two stages, with 75% of the grant being paid prior to commencement of the 

project or event and 25% on completion. 

5.7 A Project Completion Form must be completed and submitted by the applicant on completion of their 

project or event in order to draw down the final 25% payment. 

6.        Conditions of funding 

6.1      Grants must be spent within one year of an award being made (from the date on the grant offer letter). 

6.2     Grants awarded must be spent on the purpose stated in the application. If for any reason your 
circumstances change or you wish to vary the way in which you spend your grant, you are required to 
contact us to request written permission to do so. 

 
6.3 In the event of a group or organisation ceasing to operate or failing to undertake or complete the 

project or event for which the grant was offered, South Kesteven District Council reserves the right to 
withhold payment, to reduce an award or seek its recovery. 

6.4 Financial support provided by South Kesteven District Council should be acknowledged on all relevant 
printed publicity, on websites and in information given to the press. Relevant guidance will be provided 
to applicants at the time of a grant offer being made. 

  

35



 

 

 
6.5      Your group or organisation must ensure that its project or event operates within the requirements of 

all legislation. 

6.6 Your group or organisation should ensure equality of opportunity and the elimination of discrimination 

in the delivery of its project or event. 
 

6.7 You are required to inform the Council when your project or event has been completed and to submit 
a Project Completion Form within three months of completion (we will provide you with a template). 
You will also need to provide relevant invoices and a bank statement showing payments made. Groups 
or organisations that do not complete and return a satisfactory Project Completion Form within the 
agreed timetable will not be eligible to draw-down the final 25% of any grant awarded and may be 
required to return the funding paid to them at the outset of the project. Groups that do not fulfil this 
obligation will not be considered for future funding (no appeals or discussions will be entered into). 

 

Applications will be assessed at regular intervals. Please refer to South Kesteven District Council’s website 
for current timelines and dates. http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk.   

 

Contact us  
 
The Community Engagement Team 
South Kesteven District Council 
St Peter’s Hill 
Grantham 
Lincolnshire 
NG31 6PZ 
 

Tel: 01476 406080 (extn 6161) 

Email: communityfund@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 
The SK Community Fund is supported by LotterySK 
 

36

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8363
mailto:communityfund@southkesteven.gov.uk


 

 

 

Cabinet 
29 March 2022 

Report of: Councillor Robert Reid 

  Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Property  

           

Report Author 

Craig Spence, Assistant Director of Housing 

 
 01476 406080 

  Craig.spence@southkesteven.gov.uk  

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Housing that meets the 
needs of all residents 

Key Grantham Earlesfield 

 

Reviewed by: Andrew Cotton, Director for Housing and Property  19 May 2022 

Approved by: Alan Robinson, Deputy Chief Executive  23 May 2022 

Signed off by: Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for Housing 
and Property  

23 May 2022 

Contract Award in relation to the Earlesfield Estate 
Grantham Improvement Works Project  

As part of the wide-ranging improvement plans in relation to the Council’s social landlord activities, 
the Council continues to roll out a range of improvement and safety works to its properties.  The 
Council is now in a position to award a contract to undertake significant improvement works to a 
number of properties on the Earlesfield Estate in Grantham.  This paper seeks Cabinet approval to 
award a contract to the successful tender and to recommend to Council additional revenue budget 
allocation. 
 
Appendices One and Two to this report contains exempt information within the meaning of 
paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended by the Local 
Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 and by the Local Government (Access to 
information) (Variation) Order 2006): 
  
Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including 
the authority holding that information) and in all the circumstances of the case, the public 
interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 
information because disclosure to the public would prejudice the position of the authority 
during the negotiation of the terms of the contract. 

37

Agenda Item 6

mailto:Craig.spence@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 
 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. Approves the award of a contract for the Earlesfield Estate Capital Works Project 
for £3.288 million to United Living Group. 

2. Recommends to Council a budget allocation of £1.364 million to be funded from 
the Housing Revenue Account Improvement Reserve in order to deliver the one-off 
revenue costs associated with the Earlesfield Estate Capital Works Project. 

 

38



 

 
 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 The Council has a clear commitment in its Corporate Plan 2020-2023 to provide “Housing 

that meets the needs of all residents” and the timely delivery of improvements to its social 

housing stock, which includes a significant number of properties on the Earlesfield Estate 

in Grantham, is a key element to this.  

1.2 The Earlesfield Estate contains 1014 Council-owned properties, of which 152 are “Wimpey 

No Fines” design, a post-war non-standard construction archetype. In 2021, the Council 

identified as part of its landlord responsibilities that these property types contained 

asbestos containing material (ACM). Although not presenting an immediate risk of harm to 

residents, it is best practice to remove ACM.   It is confirmed that there are no other 

properties in the Council’s housing stock of this archetype.   

Project initiation  

1.3 Reflecting the number of properties involved, a small working group of Officers was 

formed as a project team to consider the most effective response.  Naturally, that 

response has been informed by the Council’s statutory and regulatory obligations, not 

least the statutory right of Secure tenants to be consulted and informed on housing 

management issues that impact on them; the Council’s requirements under the Regulator 

of Social Housing’s Homes Standard (including the Decent Homes Standard and to keep 

residents safe); and the regulations relating to the management of asbestos. 

1.4 During 2021, the Council completed the following actions, all intended to provide 

information to make informed decisions in relation to the management of the housing 

stock: 

(a) Full asbestos surveys of all 152 dwellings and some minor removal works; 

(b) Full stock condition survey of all dwellings; 

(c) Intrusive works to one property that was vacant, to assess the likely disruption if a 

property was occupied during the works;  

(d) Engagement with tenants, including home visits to all tenants and their 

households, regular newsletters, and the creation of an “estate office” for 

appointments; 

(e) Information and support in relation to the ACM and the timescales and scope of 

the works; and  

(f) Briefings of Ward Members and other key stakeholders. 

1.5 Cabinet may wish to note that the project team has maintained dynamic risk assessments 

and appropriate mitigations throughout, and the Regulator of Social Housing has been 

kept fully informed through the monthly meetings with senior officers and is satisfied with 

the approach taken. 

Works required  

1.6 The asbestos surveys showed that this property type required intrusive works to remove 

the ACM, and that the works would necessitate the removal of ceilings within the property.  

It was also noted that several the properties required replacement kitchens and 

bathrooms, and are scheduled for electrical, heating, and door upgrades through the 

Council’s usual capital works programmes.   

39



 

 
 

1.7 The following table shows the numbers of properties requiring the different types of 

improvements/works referred to at 1.6: 

Work type Number 

Kitchens 143 

Bathrooms 143 

Doors 150 

Windows 150 

Electrical 143 

Heating 112 

Asbestos 152 

 

1.8 Considering the potential disruption and scope of the works needed to these properties 

over the next few years, it is most practical and efficient to package the works into one 

contract covering all the works, and to decant (temporarily transfer) around 112 

households during the work to their homes.   To that end, ten properties on the estate 

have been held “void” to provide decant provision, and one flat has been converted into an 

estate office to ensure tenant engagement is optimised (referred to at 1.4c above).   

1.9 The Council has prepared for any decant programme, with detailed consultation with 

tenants to understand any vulnerabilities, housing need, and their personal circumstances.  

The properties held vacant for the decant programme will meet the identified needs of 

tenants and their households, and suitable notice will be given prior to the actual moves.   

1.10 Reflecting the large number of decants, there is also a need for the Council to provide 

appropriate white goods in the temporary accommodation, removal services, and cleaning 

services.   Procurement has been undertaken in relation to this.   

Procurement  

1.11 As noted at 1.10 above, the requirement to decant tenants during the works means the 

project will require removals, cleaning, and other associated costs.  A removals contract 

has been procured via the YPO framework following consultation with Welland 

Procurement to ensure compliance with procurement regulations, and a cleaning contract 

has been sought via an exemption. 

1.12 In relation to the building works, a significant amount of work was undertaken to scope the 

works required, with the contract split into six individual priced lots/sections.    The 

procurement process was initiated in quarter three of 2021 with support from Welland 

Procurement.  The Council accessed contractors via a compliant Dynamic Purchasing 

System (DPS) procurement vehicle.  

1.13 The evaluation of tender submissions was completed in April, resulting in a successful 

contractor being identified. The successful contractor scored strongly across both Quality 

and Price aspects of the tender evaluation process. The scoring matrix resulting from this 

process is attached to this report as exempt Appendix 1 – Weighted Scores and shows 

the successful tenderer is United Living Group.    

 

 

 

40



 

 
 

Finance and budget  

1.14 Cabinet will note that the project involves a mix of revenue costs (day-to-day and/or one-

off service provision) and capital costs (work on properties to extend the life of the asset).   

1.15 The proposed Earlesfield Estate Improvement Works contract is mainly capital costs (the 

contractor will also be undertaking the removal of the ACM, which is a revenue cost).   The 

proposed approach is to fund the total requirement of the capital works from the 

underspends on the Housing Revenue Account’s capital programme in 2021/22.    

1.16 In relation to revenue costs, in addition to the removal of the ACM noted at 1.15, there are 

a number of costs attributable to the project, that can be summarised as follows: 

 

 

Project costs 
£'000 

Budget required 
£'000 

Works 

Asbestos works 846 846 

Repairs & Decoration 143 143 

Housing Management  

Removal Costs 182 182 

White goods, curtains & 
flooring 27 

Costs incurred 
during 2021/22 

Wifi 4 4 

Cleaning 30 30 

Contents Insurance 8 8 

Garden Maintenance 7 7 

Goodwill payment  20 
Costs incurred 
during 2021/22 

Damage and loss 65 65 

Energy Costs 7 7 

Staffing  

Project Manager*  72 72 

Total project cost 1411 - 

Unbudgeted revenue 
requirement 2022/23 - 1364 

*temporary contract for the period of the works  

1.17 As can be seen from the above, £47k of the £1.411 million required revenue expenditure 

for the project has been incurred in the financial year 2021/22 and contained within 

existing budget.   

1.18 There is therefore an unbudgeted revenue requirement of £1.364 million required for the 

works to be undertaken in the current financial year.  Accordingly, approval for a 

recommendation from Cabinet to full Council to consider that budget allocation is sought.   

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

2.1 Full consultation and engagement with all affected tenants have been undertaken, as 

detailed above.  The Regulator of Social Housing has also been advised of the project, 

and is satisfied with the proposed approach. 

 

41



 

 
 

3 Available Options Considered 

3.1 Not undertake improvement and ACM removal works.  

3.2 Undertake the works when properties become vacant due to tenancies ending.  

3.3 Cabinet approves contract award and recommends the allocation of revenue budgets to 

Council. 

4 Preferred Option 

4.1 The suggested approach demonstrates the Council is taking a pragmatic approach that 

takes into account its statutory and regulatory requirements, whilst being sensitive to 

tenant needs and providing investment into its own housing stock to support the 

achievement of the Corporate Plan.   As such, the preferred option is that Cabinet 

approves the contract award and recommends the budget allocation to full Council.   

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s) 

5.1 A fully compliant procurement process has resulted in the identification of a contractor that 

meets the Council’s requirements. 

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

6.1 The Council will award the contract and commence the roll-out of the project to remove 

the asbestos from the identified properties and undertake the improvement works.  This 

will include scheduling in appropriate project meetings, engaging with tenants, and 

providing updates to Members and other key stakeholders.    

7 Financial Implications  

7.1 The works are a combination of capital and revenue costs and the allocation is set out in 

the report.  It has been possible to re-allocate unused capital budgets from the 2021/22 

financial year to fund the capital works of £2.442m during 2022/23.  This amount is the 

capital works only and excludes the asbestos works as these are a revenue cost. However 

there is no revenue budget allocation and the required amount exceeds Financial 

Regulations thresholds that would enable Cabinet to allocate the funding.  Therefore 

Cabinet is asked to recommend to Council an allocation of £1.364m, the details of which 

are provided at 1.16.  This will need to be financed from HRA reserves.  In addition 

members should note the loss of rental income during the duration of the works which is 

estimated at £81k.  Therefore the total scheme costs are approximately £3.934m.   

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Chief Finance Officer 

8 Legal and Governance Implications  

8.1 There are no additional legal or governance implications arising from this report that not 

already referenced in the body of the report. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Graham Watts, Assistant Director of Governance 

and Deputy Monitoring Officer 

 

 

 

42



 

 
 

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

9.1 No direct issues; the contract is to be delivered across all required properties.  The 

provision of an estate office, a single point of contact in the Housing Management Team, 

and the face-to-face surveys undertaken allows the Council to take into account the 

individual needs of tenants.   

10 Risk and Mitigation 

10.1 A full risk register and risk mitigation framework for the project shall be developed and 

reported to project meetings.  

11 Community Safety Implications  

11.1 No direct issues; the project shall be managed from an onsite office enabling full oversite 

and ownership of any arising issues by the onsite team. 

12 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

12.1 With the creation and use of an onsite office and compound we shall be reducing the 

possible carbon footprint from such a project by reducing travel requirements. 

12.2 We have also ensured that where we are temporarily moving/decanting tenants that these 

moves are being undertaken within the same estate to again reduce any carbon emissions 

from removal and travel. 

13 Other Implications (where significant)  

13.1 None. 

14 Background Papers 

14.1 None. 

15 Appendices 

15.1 Appendix One – Exempt – Weighted Scores. 

15.2 Appendix Two – Exempt – Contract Costs. 

 

 

 

 

43



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

45

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

47

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

Cabinet 
31 May 2022 

Report of: Councillor Kelham Cooke 

  The Leader of the Council 

         
  

 

Key and Non-Key Decisions taken under delegated 
powers 
This report provides an overview of decisions taken by individual Cabinet Members since the last 
meeting of the Cabinet on 19 April 2022. 

 

 

Report Author 

Lucy Bonshor, Democratic Officer 

Tel: 01476 406120 

Email: l.bonshor@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

High Performing Council Administrative All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Graham Watts, Head of Democratic Services and 
Deputy Monitoring Officer 

23 May 2022 

Approved by: Alan Robinson, Deputy Chief Executive and 
Monitoring Officer 

23 May 2022 

Signed off by: Councillor Kelham Cooke, The Leader of the Council 23 May 2022 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. It is recommended that the Cabinet notes the contents of this report. 

49

Agenda Item 7

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 

 
1.1 Since the Cabinet last met on 19 April 2022, the following Key and Non-Key decisions 

have been taken under delegated authority:  

1.1.1 Disposal of Land at Stamford 

Non-Key decision taken by the Cabinet Member for Housing and Property on 11 April 

2022. 

Date decision effective: 22 April 2022 

The Decision Notice is attached at Appendix 1. The report and accompanying appendices 

contain exempt information under Paragraph 3, Schedule 12A of the Local Government 

Act 1972 and can be seen at Appendix 1A and 1B.  

1.1.2 Invest to Save Reserve 

Non-Key decision taken by the Deputy Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for 

Finance on 19 April 2022. 

Date decision effective: 28 April 2022. 

The Decision Notice is attached at Appendix 2 and the accompanying report can be 

viewed online at: 

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=30356 

1.1.3 Cyber Security Resilience Grant 

Non-Key decision taken by the Leader of the Council on 27 April 2022. 

Date decision effective: 7 May 2022 

The Decision Notice is attached at Appendix 3 and the accompanying report can be 

viewed online at: 

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=30379 

The appendix to the report contains exempt information under Paragraph 3, Schedule 12A 

of the Local Government Act 1972 and can be seen at Appendix 3A. 

1.2 Any decision made after the publication of the agenda will be reported at the next meeting 

of the Cabinet.  

 

 

50

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=30356
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=30379


 
 

CABINET MEMBER 
DECISION 

 
 
Decision:    
 
To approve the disposal of land in Stamford as outlined in the exempt report.  
 
(1) Details of Decision 

 
 To seek approval for the disposal of land in Stamford. 

 
(2) Considerations/Evidence 

 
 As contained with the exempt report and associated appendices. 

 
(3) Reasons for Decision: 

 
 As contained within the exempt report and associated appendices. 

 
 
Conflicts of Interest 
 
(Any conflict of interest declared by any other Cabinet Member consulted in 
relation to the decision to be recorded). 
 
NONE 
 
Dispensations 
 
(Any dispensation granted by the Monitoring Officer in respect of any declared 
conflict of interest to be noted). 
 
NONE 
 
Decision taken by: 
 
Name: Councillor Robert Reid 
Cabinet Member for Housing & Property 
 
Date of Decision: 11 April 2022 
 
Date of Publication of Record of Decision: 12 April 2022 
 
Date decision effective (i.e. 5 days after the date of publication of record of 
decision unless subject to call-in by the Chairman of an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee or any 5 members of the Council from any political groups): 
 
22 April 2022 

51

Appendix 1



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

53

Appendix 1A
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

59

Appendix 1B
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

CABINET MEMBER 
DECISION 

 
 
Decision:    
 
That approval is granted for the investment in a customer portal in order to enable 
customer to access and manage services relating to Revenues and Benefits. 
 
(1) Details of Decision 

 
 To seek approval for an investment in a customer portal in order to enable 

customers to access and manage services relating to Revenues and Benefits. 
 

(2) Considerations/Evidence 
 

 The Council has a clear commitment in its Corporate Plan 2020-2023 to be a 
High Performing Council with local residents being entitled to have high 
expectations of South Kesteven District Council.  One of the key priorities is 
embedding an approach that seeks to continuously improve our service delivery 
including good governance and staff and customer experience. The key actions 
are: 
 

• Embed an agile approach to working by building on cultural and 
technological changes 

• Deliver the ambitions of the Customer Experience Strategy – to enable the 
vision of: 

− First time, every time; 

− Enabling access; 

− Understanding customer needs; 

− Staff development; and 

− Continual improvement 

 
The Revenues and Benefits service is recommending investment in the 
purchase of Northgate NEC Citizens Access Portals for Revenues and Benefits.  
The online service fully integrates with the Northgate NEC Revenues and 
Benefits software.  There are two specific customer access portals: 
 
Citizen Access - Benefits (CA-B) allows customers to make claims at times 
convenient to them. It also shortens the application process by only asking 
questions that are relevant to an individual’s circumstances and prompting for 
the completion of mandatory data to ensure claims can be processed without 
delay. Citizen Access – Benefits is also ‘web responsive’ allowing customers to 
claim using their smart phones, for example. 

75

Appendix 2



 

Citizen Access Revenues (CA-R) is a suite of online services that allows 
customers to report changes and take control of their account management 
helps improve customer service, while real-time integration removes the need 
for customers to repeat information.  Customers will also be able to opt to 
information being provided by SMS, email and other electronic forms adding 
convenience to them and reducing costs for the Council.  
 
Both of these portals will enable to access information when it is convenient to 
them and also update their personal information thus avoiding the need to 
telephone, visit or write to the Council.  Of course, the service will continue to 
provide quality services to all customers irrespective of their method of 
communicating. 
 
The self-serve features of these modules will also save significant officer time, 
postage and printing costs and other associated activities will be reduced as 
demand moves to on-line which is the most cost efficient.  The proposal is to 
seek only initial one-off funding to commence the project during the current 
financial year and thereafter the annual cost will be met from a combination of 
using existing budgets and the forecast annual savings.  It is worth noting the 
forecast annual savings is based on assumed levels of transactions that will be 
undertaken by the portal and therefore the actual transaction levels may vary 
which will increase or decrease the saving targets.  A summary of the costings 
is shown below: 
  

Product/Module Financial Outlay Per 
annum 

Return on Investment 

Citizens Access 
Revenues 

£12,480 50% saving on officer time, 
postage and printing following 
promotion and customer take 
up.  Full year saving of £29k 
after year 2  

Citizens Access 
Benefits, Universal 
Credit and Council Tax 
support   

£13,100 50% saving on officer time, 
postage and printing following 
promotion and customer take 
up.  Full year saving of £17k 
after year 2 (due to lower 
interaction volumes 
compared to Revenues) 

Perpetual annual 
Licence cost 

£21,667 N/a. The software provider 
has confirmed the 
overarching Revenues and 
Benefits licence will be at a 
fixed price (no inflationary 
increases)  

Fixed term resource 
implementation 
support  

£20,000 One-off cost to provide 
capacity and support to 
undertake implementation, 
testing and customer 
migration  

76



 

Total  £67,247 one -off 

 

Annual saving after year 2 - 
£46,000 per annum.  
Payback of reserve 2 years 6 
months  

 

(3) Reasons for Decision: 
 

 The proposal has been requested in order to continue to develop the service 

offer in line with the Council approved Customer Experience Strategy that was 

approved by Cabinet 21 January 2020. 

 
Conflicts of Interest 
 
(Any conflict of interest declared by any other Cabinet Member consulted in 
relation to the decision to be recorded). 
 
NONE 
 
Dispensations 
 
(Any dispensation granted by the Monitoring Officer in respect of any declared 
conflict of interest to be noted). 
 
NONE 
 
Decision taken by: 
 
Name: Councillor Adam Stokes 
The Deputy Leader of the Council, Cabinet Member for Finance 
 
Date of Decision: 19 April 2022 
 
Date of Publication of Record of Decision: 20 April 2022 
 
Date decision effective (i.e. 5 days after the date of publication of record of 
decision unless subject to call-in by the Chairman of an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee or any 5 members of the Council from any political groups): 
 
28 April 2022 

77



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

CABINET MEMBER 
DECISION 

 
 
Decision:    
 
That approval is granted for the Council to accept the Cyber Security 
Resilience Grant of £150k to complete the actions identified in the Cyber 
Treatment Plan. 
 
(1) Details of Decision 

 
 To seek approval for the Council to accept the Cyber Security Resilience 

Grant of £150k to complete the actions identified in the Cyber Treatment 
Plan. 
 

(2) Considerations/Evidence 
 

 A Cyber Treatment Plan has been produced in conjunction with the Local 

Digital Cyber support team.  The plan has identified improvements the 

Council should implement to improve Cyber Security and Resilience.  This 

information is detailed in Appendix A to this report which contains exempt 

information under Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972. 

 

The plan will be completed within the next 12 months and any unutilised 

funding can be retained by the Council to fund continued Cyber 

improvements. 

 
(3) Reasons for Decision: 

 
 To reduce the risk of cyber-attacks and improve security. 

 
 

Conflicts of Interest 
 
(Any conflict of interest declared by any other Cabinet Member consulted in 
relation to the decision to be recorded). 
 
NONE 
 

Dispensations 
 
(Any dispensation granted by the Monitoring Officer in respect of any declared 
conflict of interest to be noted). 
 
NONE 

79

Appendix 3



 

 
Decision taken by: 
 
Name: Councillor Kelham Cooke 
Leader of the Council, Cabinet Member for Economic Development and Growth 
 
Date of Decision: 27 April 2022 
 
Date of Publication of Record of Decision: 28 April 2022 
 
Date decision effective (i.e. 5 days after the date of publication of record of 
decision unless subject to call-in by the Chairman of an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee or any 5 members of the Council from any political groups): 
 
7 May 2022 

80



Document is Restricted

81

Appendix 3A
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Cabinet 
31 May 2022 

Report of: Councillor Kelham Cooke 

  The Leader of the Council 

         
  

Cabinet Forward Plan for the period 12 May 2022 to 11 
May 2023 

This report highlights matters on the Cabinet’s Forward Plan.  
 

Report Author 

Graham Watts, Assistant Director of Governance (Deputy Monitoring Officer)  

Tel: 01476 406156 

Email: Graham.watts@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

High Performing Council Governance All Wards 
 

Reviewed by: Graham Watts (Assistant Director of Governance and 
Deputy Monitoring Officer) 

23 May 2022 

Approved by: Alan Robinson (Deputy Chief Executive and 
Monitoring Officer) 

23 May 2022 

Signed off by: Councillor Kelham Cooke (The Leader of the Council) 23 May 2022 
 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. It is recommended that the Cabinet notes the contents of this report. 

91

Agenda Item 8

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 
 

1. Cabinet’s Forward Plan 
 

1.1 The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) 

 (England) Regulations 2012 set out the minimum requirements for publicity in connection 

 with Key Decisions. The Council meets these legislative requirements through the monthly 

 publication of its Forward Plan. 

1.2 Cabinet may also receive reports on which it is asked to make recommendations to Council 

 or review the contents and take necessary action. These items are also listed on the Forward 

 Plan. 

1.3 To help Cabinet understand what issues will be put before it in the longer-term, items for 

 consideration during the preceding year have been included in the Cabinet’s Forward Plan. 

 The Forward Plan also includes details of items scheduled for each of the Council meetings 

 due to be held within the plan period. 

2.0 Equality and Safeguarding implications 

2.1 No implications.  

3.0 Appendices 

3.1 Appendix 1 – Cabinet’s Forward Plan 

 

 

 

92



  

 
CABINET FORWARD PLAN 

 Notice of decisions to be made by Cabinet  
12 May 2022 to 11 May 2023 

 
At its meetings, the Cabinet may make Key Decisions and Non-Key Decisions. It may also make recommendations to Council on 
matters relating to the Council’s budget or its policy framework. 
 
A Key Decision is a Cabinet decision that is likely: 
 

1. To result in the District Council incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant having regard 
to the District Council’s budget for the service or function to which the decision relates (for these purposes, South Kesteven 
District Council has agreed £200,000 as the threshold at which a decision will be considered significant); or 
 

2. To be significant in terms of its effects on communities that live or work in an area comprising two or more wards. 
 
A Non-Key Decision is one that is not a Key Decision. 
 
The Forward Plan 
 
The Cabinet Forward Plan is a rolling, 12-month plan that will be updated on a regular basis. It includes those matters that are 
scheduled to be considered by Cabinet during the plan period. This plan also includes details of those decisions that are due to be 
made by the full Council. 
 

93

A
ppendix 1



 
Notice of future Cabinet decisions and recommendations to Council  
 

Summary Date Action Contact 

To award contract in relation to Earlesfield project - Key Decision 

To outline the project and the budget 
required for the proposed works 
 

31 May 
2022 
 

To award contract 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing & Property 
(Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Director of Housing & Property 
E-mail: andrew.cotton@southkesteven.gov.uk 

Contract award for building materials supply - Key Decision 

To consider the contract award for building 
material supply in respect of council social 
housing consumption. 
 

31 May 
2022 
 

To award the contract. 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing & Property 
(Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Assistant Director of Housing 
E-mail: craig.spence@southkesteven.gov.uk 

Housing Compensation Policy - Key Decision 

The purpose of the report is to seek 
approval for the adoption of a 
compensation policy to be used across 
Housing Technical Services and Housing 
Services.  
 

Jun 2022 
 

To approve the Policy. 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing & Property 
(Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Director of Housing & Property 
E-mail: andrew.cotton@southkesteven.gov.uk 

Housing Recharge Policy - Key Decision 

Cabinet to confirm the Councils approach to 
the recovery of recharges within its social 
housing landlord function. 
 

 

Jun 2022 
 

To approve policy. 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing & Property 
(Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Assistant Director of Housing 
E-mail: craig.spence@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 
 
 

94

mailto:andrew.cotton@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:craig.spence@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:andrew.cotton@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:craig.spence@southkesteven.gov.uk


Summary Date Action Contact 

Review of the Street Trading Policy - Key Decision 

To consider proposed updates to the Street 
Trading Policy. 
 

Jun 2022 
 

To approve updates to the 
Policy. 
 

Cabinet Member for Corporate Governance and 
Licensing (Councillor Linda Wootten) 
 
Assistant Director for Operations and Public 
Protection 
E-mail: a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Street Collection and House to House Collection Policy - Key Decision 

To consider the proposed new Street 
Collection and House to House Collection 
Policy. 
 

Jun 2022 
 

To approve the Policy. 
 

Cabinet Member for Corporate Governance and 
Licensing (Councillor Linda Wootten) 
 
Assistant Director for Operations and Public 
Protection 
E-mail: a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Corporate Asset Management Strategy - Key Decision 

To consider a draft strategy defining the 
Council’s approach of the management of 
corporate property assets. 
 

Jun 2022 
 

To approve the strategy. 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing & Property 
(Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Director of Housing & Property 
E-mail: andrew.cotton@southkesteven.gov.uk 

Housing Allocations Policy - Key Decision 

A policy which sets out clear parameters as 
to how the housing options team manage 
the allocation of properties within our own 
stock and how support and advice is 
provided to applicants wishing to join the 
housing register. 
 

Jul 2022 
 

To adopt a Housing 
Allocations Policy. 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing & Property 
(Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Director of Housing & Property 
E-mail: andrew.cotton@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 

95

mailto:a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:andrew.cotton@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:andrew.cotton@southkesteven.gov.uk


Summary Date Action Contact 

Policy for the Provision of Litter Bins - Key Decision 

To consider the proposed draft policy for 
the provision of litter bins across the district. 
 

Jul 2022 
 

To agree a draft policy. 
 

Cabinet Member for Waste Services 
(Councillor Mark Whittington) 
 
Assistant Director for Operations and Public 
Protection 
Tel: Tel: 01476 40 63 19 
E-mail: a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk  
 

Proposed Development brief for Land at Stamford North -  

To consider the proposed development 
brief for land at Stamford North prior to 
consultation. 
 

Sep 2022 
 

To approve the draft 
Supplementary Planning 
Document in respect of land 
at Stamford North for 
consultation. 
 

Cabinet Member for Planning & Planning Policy 
(Councillor Nick Robins) 
 
Director of Growth & Culture 
E-mail: nicola.mccoy-
brown@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

HRA Business Plan and Asset Management Strategy 2021-2026 - Key Decision 

To consider the strategy 
 

Sep 2022 
 

To adopt a Housing Asset 
management Strategy 
 

Cabinet Member for Housing & Property 
(Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Director of Housing & Property 
E-mail: andrew.cotton@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 
 

96

mailto:a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:nicola.mccoy-brown@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:nicola.mccoy-brown@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:andrew.cotton@southkesteven.gov.uk

	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the previous meeting
	4 Contract award for building materials supply
	Appendix One - Exempt - Building Materials Summary Report

	5 SK Community Fund: Small Grants Scheme
	Appendix A - Small Grants Criteria - 2022

	6 Award of Contract - The Earlesfield Project
	Appendix One - Exempt - Moderated Scores
	Appendix Two – Exempt – Contract Costs

	7 Key and Non-Key Decisions taken under Delegated Powers
	RR 11.04.22 Disposal land Stamford
	PDF Cabinet report inc Appendix 1 and 2
	Exempt Appendix 3 - Land Valuation dated 20th October 2020
	AS 19.04.22 Invest to Save
	KC 27.04.22 Cyber Sec Grant
	Appendix A - Cyber Treatment Plan restricted

	8 Cabinet's Forward Plan
	FP amended


